NIHR National Institute for Health and Care Research



Extended Research Article

Clinical and cost-effectiveness of detailed anomaly ultrasound screening in the first trimester: a mixed-methods study

Jehan N Karim,¹ Helen Campbell,¹ Pranav Pandya,² Edward C F Wilson,³ Zarko Alfirevic,⁴ Trish Chudleigh,⁵ Elizabeth Duff,⁶ Jane Fisher,⁷ Hilary Goodman,⁸ Lisa Hinton,¹ Christos Ioannou,⁹ Edmund Juszczak,¹⁰ Louise Linsell,¹ Heather L Longworth,⁴ Kypros H Nicolaides,¹¹ Anne Rhodes,¹² Gordon Smith,¹³ Basky Thilaganathan,¹⁴ Jim Thornton,¹⁰ Gillian Yaz,¹⁵ Oliver Rivero-Arias,¹ and Aris T Papageorghiou^{1*}

¹University of Oxford, Oxford, UK
²University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK
³Exeter University, Exeter, UK
⁴Liverpool Women's NHS Foundation Trust, Liverpool, UK
⁵Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Cambridge, UK
⁶National Childbirth Trust, Cambridge, UK
⁷Antenatal Results and Choices, London, UK
⁸Hampshire Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, Hampshire, UK
⁹Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust, Oxford, UK
¹⁰University of Nottingham, Nottingham, UK
¹¹King's College Hospital, London, UK
¹³University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK
¹⁴St George's University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK
¹⁵SHINE, Peterborough, UK

*Corresponding author aris.papageorghiou@wrh.ox.ac.uk

Published May 2025 DOI: 10.3310/NLTP7102

Plain language summary

Clinical and cost-effectiveness of detailed anomaly ultrasound screening in the first trimester: a mixed-methods study

Health Technology Assessment 2025; Vol. 29: No. 22 DOI: 10.3310/NLTP7102

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

Plain language summary

n the National Health Service, all women are offered two ultrasound scans during pregnancy: at 11–14 weeks, which confirms the baby is alive, takes measurements, and checks if there is more than one baby; and at 18–20 weeks, which checks whether the baby is developing as expected. Unfortunately, in about 2–3% of pregnancies, a serious physical condition (anomaly) is found at this second scan.

With improvements in scanning equipment, almost half of these anomalies can now be picked up on the early scan. This has advantages for parents: extra time for testing, to speak to specialists or to prepare for the baby's birth. For parents deciding on termination, having this done earlier can be safer. But there may be disadvantages: early scanning could suggest the baby has a condition which further testing shows not to be the case. This could cause worry and further unnecessary tests. Our research looks at whether earlier scanning would be the right approach, and if so, how this should be done. We conducted several studies to answer this question.

First, we reviewed the experiences of hospitals who already offer this early scan. This identified which serious physical conditions can be found, and that the number of parents given a false alarm is relatively low.

Second, we surveyed every National Health Service trust in England. Approximately 75% already perform an early anatomy scan, but with a lot of variation of what options are available to women.

Next, we asked 172 doctors, midwives and sonographers to work together to plan how early scanning could be introduced. They recommended that every woman be scanned between 12 and 14 weeks, to look for one of eight major physical conditions.

We then surveyed over a thousand parents to hear what they think. Over 90% felt that this earlier scan would be beneficial.

Finally, we built a computer model to help us calculate the costs of this earlier scan. This suggested early screening would lead to fewer live births of babies with anomalies. It showed that an early scan would be associated with a small increase in healthcare costs, but also in positive health outcomes for each woman. The additional maternal benefits were considered worth the additional healthcare costs. We identified that there is already sufficient evidence to support this new policy of screening, and that it would not be a good use of money to carry out further research in this area.

Health Technology Assessment

ISSN 2046-4924 (Online)

Impact factor: 3.5

A list of Journals Library editors can be found on the NIHR Journals Library website

Launched in 1997, *Health Technology Assessment* (HTA) has an impact factor of 3.5 and is ranked 30th (out of 174 titles) in the 'Health Care Sciences & Services' category of the Clarivate 2022 Journal Citation Reports (Science Edition). It is also indexed by MEDLINE, CINAHL (EBSCO Information Services, Ipswich, MA, USA), EMBASE (Elsevier, Amsterdam, the Netherlands), NCBI Bookshelf, DOAJ, Europe PMC, the Cochrane Library (John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, USA), INAHTA, the British Nursing Index (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA), Ulrichsweb™ (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA) and the Science Citation Index Expanded™ (Clarivate™, Philadelphia, PA, USA).

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

The full HTA archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hta.

Criteria for inclusion in the Health Technology Assessment journal

Manuscripts are published in *Health Technology* Assessment (HTA) if (1) they have resulted from work for the HTA programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

Reviews in *Health Technology Assessment* are termed 'systematic' when the account of the search appraisal and synthesis methods (to minimise biases and random errors) would, in theory, permit the replication of the review by others.

HTA programme

Health Technology Assessment (HTA) research is undertaken where some evidence already exists to show that a technology can be effective and this needs to be compared to the current standard intervention to see which works best. Research can evaluate any intervention used in the treatment, prevention or diagnosis of disease, provided the study outcomes lead to findings that have the potential to be of direct benefit to NHS patients. Technologies in this context mean any method used to promote health; prevent and treat disease; and improve rehabilitation or long-term care. They are not confined to new drugs and include any intervention used in the treatment, prevention or diagnosis of disease.

The journal is indexed in NHS Evidence via its abstracts included in MEDLINE and its Technology Assessment Reports inform National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance. HTA research is also an important source of evidence for National Screening Committee (NSC) policy decisions.

This article

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the HTA programme as award number 17/19/10. The contractual start date was in August 2018. The draft manuscript began editorial review in January 2023 and was accepted for publication in November 2023. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The HTA editors and publisher have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' manuscript and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the draft document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this article.

This article presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HTA programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HTA programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

This article was published based on current knowledge at the time and date of publication. NIHR is committed to being inclusive and will continually monitor best practice and guidance in relation to terminology and language to ensure that we remain relevant to our stakeholders.

Copyright © 2025 Karim *et al.* This work was produced by Karim *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaptation in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Newgen Digitalworks Pvt Ltd, Chennai, India (www.newgen.co).